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L INTRODUCTION
This matter comes. before the Office of Administrative Hearings (“OSAH™) pursuant to a January 21,
2005, due process hearing request filed by Petitioner (“Jl”) alleging that the DeKalb County School
District (*DCSD") failed to provide him with a free appropriate public edudation (“FAPE”) as required
under the Individual with Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA™), Section 504 of the Vocational
Rehabilitation Act, and the American with Disabilities Act. OSAH has Jurisdiction to hear this matter
pursuant to Article 2 of the Georgia Administrative Procedures Act. After having carefully reviewed the
testimony and documentary evidence presented in this matter, and for the reasons indicated below, SR,
appeal is HEREBY DENIED.’

IL. FINDINGS OF FACT

Al PETITIONER’S DUE PROCESS REQUEST:

'. contends that DCSD has failed to identify his disabilities; structure a program (o meet his
independent educational needs; and develop an adequate current and former Individual Education
Program (“IEP”) that contains appropriate goals and objectives. BB furcher alieges that DCSD
inappropriately placed him at (i Vi SED-CE Conter ("I W) civen his
disabilities, and requests an interim placement at Jl) W@y School. 8. sccks compensatory
education from January 20, 2003 to present, an order requiring DCSD to place him in an appropriate

' The hearing was held on April 28,29, June 2, 3, 28 and 29, August 30, and September 19 and 20, 2005. The record
closed on October 24, 2005, with the filing of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,

Page 1 af 21 ~ Volume __ Page




residential facility, full and comprehensive testing, reimbursement for private placement at (RN
School in the amount af $8,250, and an order finding that JlB was bullied and discriminated apainst on
the basis of his disability. (Petitioner's January 21, 2005 Due Process Hearing Request).
B. BACKGROUND AND EVALUATIONS

1.
B is - D year-old student in the eleventh grade residing in the DeKalb County School
District (“DCSD”). {l. has emotional behavioral disorder (“"EBD™), is entitled to special education
services under the provisions of the IDEA, and currently receives services from DCSD. {Stipulation of
Parties; Exs. J- 27(4), and J-410).

2.
During Spring of 2002, Jl}: was referred for a psycho-educational evaluation (“DCSD evaluation™) by
his parents because of behavioral concerns arising out of a series of interpersonal conflicts hetwcen’
and his peers during that school year, (Ex. J-20, at Page A).

3.
The DCSD evaluation dmcrmincd-. to be “bright, sensitive, and eager to learn, ripid, explosive and
socially hindered, ‘ also displays signs of aggressive behavior such as being arpumentative and
defiant. He demands attention and is disobedient at school. He disturhs mlilers, is jealous, fights with
others and talks out in class. W has physically attacked others, disrupts class, screams, and tends to
show-off. He is explosive, is demanding, stubborn, has sudden mood changes and tends to talk too much.
'. has temper tantrums and is often loud.” (Ex. J-20, at Pages B, and K — L.

4,
At the time of the evaluation, ' took three (3) different medications to stabilize his mood and reduce
depression (Effexor), anxiety (Riseradol) and aggression (Trieptol). - does not handle disruption or
social bantering well. In addition, {l. can be rigid and righteous when viewing others, -.* previous
psychiatrist, Dr. i, MD, diagnosed @ with a Bipolar Disorder and an Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD). His present psychologist, Dr. WSl has diagnosed Jl with
ADHD, Adjustment Disorder with Anxiety and Adjustment Disorder with Depressed Mode. {Ex. J-20, ar
Page B), ' .

5.
B o5 an inability to understand how his behavior causes or exacerbates problems in social situations.
This has continued throughout the relevant period despite significant efforts by both DCSD and his
private therapist, Dr, _ whom he has seen on a regular basis during the relevant time period,
| ] experiences difficulty with peer interaction, on task behaviors, response o corrections, and

completion of class assignments and homework, (TR, Jun 28, 2005, at p. 140,
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6.
There is evidence in the record that 3. may have been teased at school and that his reactions to being
teased have gotten him in trouble (Ex. J-52, pp. fg: TR., September 19, 2005, p. 253). Also, during
sessions with Dr, (RS- B alleged that he was teased at school. However, Dr. Wiy testificd
that T lacks recognition that Ahis behavior plays a crucial role both in starting problems and in
prolonging them. Dr. EESM never contacted the DCSD to confirm the accuracy of Sll.'s statements
of teasing, and assumed that . statements were not completely accurate. (TR, Jun. 28, 2005, at pp.
203-204; TR., Jun. 29, 2005, af pp. 354, 372-373, 376-377, 441). Dr. NN acknowledges that he is
not in a position to comment on 48l educational program at the DCSD, sinee he has not observed the
program or discussed {il.’s performance with the DCSD staff. (d. at p. 414-415). Dr. (g also
recognized that llB." problems are not limited to the school environment as evidenced by his statement
that “Family conflict and self-destructive impulses are an extension of 4." view of himself as an
imnocent victim combined with a sense of self-righteousness that magnifies the severity of both real and
imagined affromts.” (7d). Dr. S notes that J. misperceives reality and believes that others act
toward him with malevolent intent and that this paranoia, combined with his depression and emotional
immaturity, has further exacerbated {l}’ problems with social interactions. (TR., Jun. 28, 2005 at .
204, 268; TR, Jun. 29, 2005 at p, 697). g
B. K.5.ELIGIBILITY

. 1.
Based on the DCSD Evaluation, [, was found eligible for special education services under the category

of Emotional and Behavioral Disorder (“EBD”) pursuant to 20 U.8.C. §1400 et seq. (See ep., Exs J-24,
J-27(A) J-30). During the relevant period, Jill} has not been cligible under Other Health Impaired
(“OHI") for any educational impacts arising from any alleged ADHD. (7d). .’ physical and medical
limitations are: Bipolar, OCD (obsessive compulsive disorder), and ADHD. (Exs. J-30, 35 ar p. A). His
primary area of disability is EBD. (Exs. J27 4, J-30, 35 ar p. A).
C. April 2003 IEP
8.

During the Spring Semester of 2003, Wl did not have any discipline referrals or other reports of
confrontations or altercations with peers. (Ex. J-52 at p. W), On April 4, 2003, W' IEP team convened
to review .’ current IEP, develop an 1EP for the next school year (2003-2004), develop or revise a
Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP”), develop a Transition Plan, and review his progress. (Ex, J-24, 25, 26,
27). The IEP Team reviewed -* progress and noted that, during the first semester, .-mﬁcla excellent
progress on his behaviors and passed all of his classes, except Citizenship. When the IEP met in April
21]1]3,‘ was passing all of his classes, except his first period class, Gifted World Geography, in which
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he tended to sleep. (Ex. J-25). The IEP team agreed upon goals and objectives relating to homework,
grades, conduct, and social interactions. (TR Apr. 29, 2005, at p. 53; Ex. J-27, at p. E). The Team also
decided that 3. would continue in the same placement at Wl High School for the tenth prade. (Ex.
J-27, at p. H). A “Parent Notification” of the April 4, 2003 [EP meeting was provided to JE mother,
., which she- signed. f;F..x, J-24). @ attended and participated at the April 4, 2003 [EP meeting,.
{ Testimony of’l.‘ Ex. J27, at pp. C, D, and H). There was no regular education teacher present at the
IEP meeting. (Ex. J-27 H).
' 9.
~ The IEP team performed a Functional Behavior Assessment (“FBA™) to address two-targeted behaviors:
“sleeping in classes” and “inappropriate response to peer provocation™ at the April 4, 2004 [EP meeting,
The team determined that the “function”, or reason, for JilB. “sleeping in class™ was “avoidance/escape”
and developed a Behavior Intervention Plan (“BIP") that listed the following interventions to address this
behavior: “awaken student” and “regular bedtime & exercise.” The consequences for such behavior were
to “contact parent” and, if necessary “detention.” The team determined that the “function”, or reason, for
¥’ “inappropriate response to peer provocation” was “control” of his environment and developed a BIP
that listed the following interventions to address this behavior: “adult intervention/correction, and time
out of the room.” The consequences were “student conference, parent cunzlact, counselor contact, and
administrative referral.” (Ex. J-27, arp. C). .5 parents,.. and ..1 signed the BIP. (Exs, J-25 and
J-27, at pp. B and C).
10

In recognition of -’ disability, the IEP team determined that il would see the school psychelogist as
needed and, at the Parents’ request, DCSD agreed not to hold absences against .2 {Exs. J-25 and J-27,
at p. F). The team determined that the appropriate placement for Jll. was to continue in a study skills
class and to continue his college prep coursework in the regular/general curriculum classrooms. (Exs. J-
2% and J-27, at pp. D and H} (Option 5: General education setting with direct special education half day
or less)). WM. would take his End of Course Tests (EOCT) in a small setting. (Ex. J-27, at p .G). SR
parents, . and B sipned that they attended the IEP meeting, were invited to participate in the

development of the [EP, understood its contents, were explained their due process rights and procedures,

* " argues that DCSD should have insisted, or made him, po to school when he was absent during the 2004 -
2005 school year, (TR., Apr. 30, 2005 at pp. 123-124). This discussion, documented in the minutes of the April 4,
2003 IEP mecting, represents " parents’ view of how the School District should treat his absences, However, to
the extent that il argues that he unfairly was reported for scheol truancy, 0.C.G.A. § 20-2-690.1 and State Board
of Education Rule 160-5-1-.10 address the lncal School District’s obligations to report students who have been
truant from school. Compulsory attendance issues are not governed by the IDEA or its accompanying regulations,
nor is the special education department responsible for reporting student truancy, (TR., Apr. 30, 2005 at pp. 123-
124, Testimony of . Gay).
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and oblained a copy of *“Your Rights as Parents Regarding Special Education,” the IEP, and the Eligibility
Report. (fx. J27atp. D, J).
_ 1.

.. passed all of his classes during the Spring Semester of 2003, including advanced
Literature/Composition, Gifted/Accelerated Biology, Gifted Geometry, Gifted World Geography (the
class that he was failing at the time of the April 2003 IEP meeting), and Japanese. (Ex. J-52 at A). B
academic issues at school were the result of his inconsistency in completing homework. (TR., Sept. 19,
2003, at pp. 200, 331, 334, 383; FR., Sepr. 20, 2005, at p. 147). In fact, the undisputed westimony is that
#B could and did demonstrate knowledge of his academic subjects as evidenced by his high scores on
achievement testing. If . could just have been graded on tests, he would have received a 100, (TR,
Apr. 29, 2005 at p. 195). Moreover, Jl: was able to perform academically even with his behavioral
problems, and the evaluations do not indicate that Y. has a problem listening to or understanding
information. (TR., Sepr. 20, 2003, at pp. 194-223}.

12,
-.. had no discipline problems at school until March 9, 2004, when he entered his regular education
classroom upset about his grade. The teacher attempted to discuss the issue with ., but G,
responded, “F*** it and walked out of the classroom. (Ex J-32 at W: J-Hi‘m pp. A KK, TT, GG TR,
Apr. 29, 2005, at p. 143). WM. was assigned three days of in-school suspension (ISS) for this incident.
(Ex. J-52 at W; J-53 at p. A, KK, TT, GGG; TR Apr. 29, 2005 at p. 143). There is no evidence that il .’
response o the teacher was caused by any teasing known by DCSD. To the contrary, the incident was
consistent with Jll’ inability to control his anger, (Ex. J-33 at p. t1; TR Apr, 29, 2005, at . 140).

13
On March 16, 2004, [ had another disciplinary problem in which he approached another student, and
hit her on the head. Additionally, . kicked a second student multiple times. (Ex. J-53 at pp. UU, XX:
WW; TR Apr. 20, 2005, at pp. 50, 96). There is no evidence that Sl actions against these studenis were
caused by teasing known by DCSD. As a result of this incident, ' was charged under the School
District’s Student Code of Conduct with (1) intimidation/threatening staff or students; (2) physical contact
with students of an insulting nature; (3) disrespect to school personnel; (4) use of profanity; and (5)
repeated violation of school rules. (Ex. J-53 af pp. UU, ¥V, TR Apr. 29, 2005, at pp. 141-142).

D. MARCH 2004 IEP

14.
On March 22, 2004, §l." [EP team convened to review his IEP and determine the appropriale placernent

fur‘ (X, J-30; TR Apr. 29 2003, at p. 143, 147-149). '.‘ parents attended and participated in the
TEP Mesting. (/d,). The IEP Team reviewed §l}° progress on his IEP Goals and Objectives. (Ex, J-35

Page 5 of 21 Volume  Page




at p. ). Despite the two tecent incidents, the data showed that .. made progress on his goals and
objectives, (Fx, ~37). The IEP Team and" parents discussed his recent disciplinary incidents and
behavior. (Exs, J-30, 35 at p. A). There was no regular education teacher present at the IEP meeting. (Ex.
J-35 ().

15.
At the March 22, 2004, IEP meeting, the team identified B’ physical and medical limitations as
Bipolar, OCD, and ADHD. (Exs. J-30, 35 at p. A}. His primary area of disability was EBD. {Exs, J-30,
35at p. 4). The team noted that J8. was bright, but preferred to work alone, continued to have problems
with- social interactions, Had difficalty completing homework and class work, even though he had
progressed in this objective during the 2003-2004 school year, is v:asﬂ:,.r frustrated, and had gotten nto
trouble by reacting to teasing by other students. B vwas able to function in classes where he was able to
isolate himself from tense situations. (Exs. J-30, 35 at p. 4). The team determined that §° behavior
impeded his leaming and possibly the learning of others. (Ex. J-35 at p. B). As a result of his recent
problems, the IEP team performed another FBA to address the reasons for his behaviors and updated his
BIP. (Ex. J-35 at pp. B, J). Y’ interfering behaviors were noted to be caused by “inappropriate
response to peer provocation” (Ex. J-35 ar p. J). The function of his behavior was to control his
environment., (Ex. J-35 at p. JI. The BIP listed adult intervention and con'eii:tion, time out of the room,
permanent pass to go to a safe space, and use of discussion to mediate and solve problems as appropnate
interventions. (Ex. J-35atpp, E, J).

16,
The IEP team determined that the appropriate placement for Jl|. for the 2004-2005 school year was the
“(jeneral education selting with direct special education half-day, or less.” (Ex. J-35 ar p. )
Specifically, ' would attend class at DCSDYs “Open Campus™ where he would be able to take classes
to pursue a college-prep diploma, attain Camegie units, and pursue technology/vocational credits, (Ex. J-
35 atd, J-52 at p. Ej. He would also take a Study Skills (special education} class for 7.5 hours per week
and receive technology services for a quarter hour per week. (Ex. J-35 at H, J-52 at p. E).

17.
-T Parents reported to the [EP team that .. was experiencing excessive mood swings, had been
hospitalized previously due to emotional/behavioral difficulties, and that his physician was working o
modify his medications, Wl .parents also indicated that, afer the previous incidents, Jil} was too
embarrassed to return to — High School. (TR, dpr. 29, 2005, ar p. 165; Ex. J-35 at p. ). The
parents then requested that il receive “Hospital Homebound Instruction”, and the IEP team agreed.
{id.). The parents were given information to request Homebound Instruction. (7d.). However, DCSD has
no record of the Parents returning the forms requesting Homebound Instruction. (TR, Apr. 29, 2005, ar
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56, 102-103). On March 22, 2004, the same day as the IEP meeting,-"‘ parents informed DCSD that
he would not be retarning to et High School, but would be in “home school” for the remainder of the
wear and, consistent with the discussions and agreement at the [EP meeting, would be atlending another
DCSD school the following year. (Ex. J-53 ar p. PPP), referring to notes of the IEP Meeting, Ex. J-35 ai
p. L. However, Wl had an episode at home that required his involuntary hospitalization in a psychiatric
unit at GENSENE SN before services could be arranged by DCSD. (TR Apr. 28, 2005, at p. 141). After
his hospitalization, it was concloded that . needed a more structured environment than IHospital
Homebound, and Jl. was referred to DCSD's psycho-educational program. (TR, dpr. 28, 2005, wi I41;
Ex. J-21 at p. A
E. APRIL 2004 IEP

14
. was accepted into DCSD’s psycho-education program, The TEP team reconvened on April 20, 2004
to consider an appropriate educational placement for . outside of the home environment. (Ex, J-33,
34, 35 at A) (revisions in pencil); Ex. J-37. At the April 20, 2004 meeting, the team noted that. had
been hospitalized recently and was taking the following medications: Celexa, Lamictal, Trileptal, and
Seroquil. (Ex. J-35 at p. A). Instead of the previously agreed upon placement at the DCSD Open
Campug, the TEP team :md'-‘ parents agreed to place .. in the Severe Er;huliﬂnully and Behaviorally
Disturbed (SEBD) “Outpost” program at (SR High School. (Ex. J-34, J- 52 at pp. F-G, and H-M).
There was no regular education teacher present at the TEP meeting, ¢Ex. J-34).

19.
At the April 20, 2004 1IEP maating,..’ mother pave DCSD permission/releases to contact Dr. S
O, S 8. Hospital, and Dr_sSS¥ if it nceded additional information for S
placement. (£x. S-36). However, DCSD concluded that it did not need additional records at that time and
did not seek to obtain $MB." medical records. DCSD did not believe that the releases were unlimited as to
time, When DCSD needed to speak with Dr. [yl in the fall, it obtained a new release from the
parents. (TR, Apr. 28, 2005, at pp, 24-25). (Testimony of Dr. Anne Van Buskirk, June 2, 2005},

20,
Far the remainder of his 2003-2004 school year (tenth grade), § was scheduled to take two classes in
the general education environment (Algebra 11, Advanced Chemistry) at the Outpost program. (Ex. J-37),
He was also scheduled to take four elasses in the SEBD classroom. (Jd). The IEP Team also agreed that
the following year, Yl would take Pre-Caleulus and Physics in the general education environment and
American Literature, American History, Study Skills, and Decision Making in the SEBD classroom. (Ex.
J-37;. [ mother would take iR 1o school in the morming, and Sl would ride the gifted students’
magnel bus home in the afternoon. (Ex. J-37). .’ mother signed the staffing notes {minutes). (Ex, J-
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37). Despite his emotional problems and hospitalization during Spring Semester of 2004, = passed his
classes, including Advanced Chemistry I, Japanese I, World Literature/Composition B, Algebra II B,
Decision Making, and Study Skills. His only failing grade was in Advanced World History. (Ex. J-32
p- Al

21.
8. had another disciplinary problem, in the Fall Semester of 2004, in which he asked his teacher, in
front of his classmates, why “blacks look like gorillas?” (TR., dpr. 29, 2005, at p. 262). Concerned about
‘-—: comments, the teacher attempted on several occasions to engage in a discussion of tolerance. (1d).
During these discussiuns._,- stated that he disliked people who “acted ghetio.” (Td. at pp 262-264). The
teacher suggested to Yl that he did not mean this as a comment about black people in gencral. (Td., at p.
264). - replied *“MNo”, but more of them act phetto than white people. (fd). When the
paraprdﬁassianal mld‘. that this was a racist comment, he responded angrily with curse words, (7d.).
'. was then suspended from Yl High School. (1d.,; Ex. J-53 at pp. A, KK). After this incident,
48 ' attention, participation, and interest in school at SSEEEEENE: dccreased and his attendance became
spovadic, (TR., Apr. 29, 2003, at p. 265; TR., June 2, 2005, at p. 123).

22,
After hus suspension, - lost his temper and made comments about heit1gi°suicidal and threatened tw
bring a gun to school. {Ex. J-68, «t p. 1)), DCSD then requested a release from B parents to speak
with Dr. SIS (TR, June 2, 2005, at p.108). Based on §§.’ version of events, Dr. SENENE told
DCSD that it needed to be more “sensitive” to Sl and assured DCSD that {l. “did not have a gun, nor
did he have a plan to harm himself or others” (TR., June 2, 2003, at pp. 108-1i2). However, Dr.
N testified that 88 had not fully informed him of the events surrounding his suspension and
that, had he understood what 8. had actually said, his advice to'§8®. would have been different. (TH.
Juke 29, 2005, at pp. 664-663). Dr. FSumms- did no: recommend [SENEENGY School as “interim
placement” pending residential placement for W, (TR., June 29, 2005, at p. 449). In fact, at the time of
his evaluation of {ll., Dr. (ENSEEE did not recommend residential placement for El. (TR., June 29,
2003, at p. 430).

23,
‘. had another disciplinary problem on November 3, 2004. While riding on the school bus, Sl
became abusive and agpressive, struck the bus driver and other students, and vandalized the bus before
leaving the scene. (Ex. J-38, 39, 53, atpp. A, C-D, E £, G, H, {-L, M-0, P, ), &, 5-CC, EE-JJ, KK, LL).
As a tesult, DCSD charged @M. with violating the Student Code of Conduct (). The police
subsequently charped (. with destruction of property. (Ex. J-53 at pp. MM-PP).
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NOVEMBER 2004 1IEP

24,
On November 22, 2004, W8’ TEP team met to determine whether his conduct on the bus was a
manifestation of his disability, which the TEP Team members assumed. (TR, June 2, 2005 at pp. 120-
121). The IEP team discussed whether Ml required a more therapeutic and structured setting than the
SEBD outpost program at (SIS High School. (Ex. J-40, 41, 42). #8B." mother was present at the
meeting and reported that, following the bus incident on November 3, 2004, Tl was hospitalized at
. (Fx.J-41). After being discharged from the hospital 488, told his parents that he did not
want to attend school. (Ex. J-41). 3R’ mother reported to the [EP tearn that§ll had suicidal ideations
and was emotionally fragile. (Ex. J~41). She also indicated that the parents were investigating the
availability of MATCH funding for residential placement. However, she did not provide any details or
ask DCSD to consider residential placement for @l at the IEP meeting. (TR., Sept. 20, 2003, at p. 50).

25,
The IEP team and Tl mother discussed the Tl VIERENRNNE Ccnter (e WEER"),
including its behavior management program, social skills program, and its incentive program at the
November 22, 2004 meeting. (Ex. J~41). Sk Wl-is a therapeutic special education program within
the continuum of services provided by the DCSD. (Ex. J-54). The sluﬂ::nls:* at S S Academy
have a wide range of emotional and behavioral difficulties and are unable to function successfully in other
public school environments, The program is different from the special educational services available in
other DCSD schools because a multi disciplinary team of educators, clinicians and administrators work
together to assist students in understanding their feelings and behaviors, teach students to behave in more
socially acceptable ways, and help students discover self-worth and respect for others. T R
aperates on a levels system in which students eam the right to certain privileges and consideration by the
1EP team for return to the regular education environment, (7R, Apr. 28, 2003, at pp. 108, 110, 123-129;
TR., Apr. 29, 2005 at pp. 12-14; TR, June 28, 2005, at pp. 177; Exs, R-54, R-54, and J-55). The 1EP
team and JE’ mother agreed to amend his IEP to placedilf ot S SEE, located at R .
Y T, T A WY There was no regular education teacher present at the IEP meeting,
(Exs. J-40 and 41).

26.
WP began school at [ENENEEER: on 2 modified day schedule two weeks prior to winter break during
December 2004. (TR, Apr. 28, 2005, at p. 183). DCSD introduced Tl to WIS before he began
the new semester in January 2005, because he needed structure and an opportunity to get acelimated to

the school, its environment, structure, and expectations, Sl was not required to either make up missed

class assignments or take final exams. However, he did not receive credit for the time he spent at Sl
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i 8 prior to winter break, since he had missed extensive time from school. (TR, Apr. 29, 2005, at pp.
65, 92). TEEEEEER: offercd-4B. courses that he needed to fulfill Camegie units required for
graduation. (TR., April 29, 2005, at pp. 10-11). Tn addition to the classes . could take during his
modified day at W, DCSD provided his parents with information about additional courses that
he could take through the Dekalb On-Line Academy (“DOLA™). (1d) However, S8l indicated that he
did not want to attend TSNS before anything could be worked out regarding DOLA for the Spring
2005 semester. (TR., June 2, 2005 at 127; TR., June 28, 2003, at p. 286).
t 27.
% attended a portion of only approximately six (6) days at SEESEEEEE: before refusing to return to the
facility, (TR., June 2, 2003, at p. 127). 30" final day of school was on or about Janvary 10, 2005, On
January 18, 2005, J.’ mother sent an e-mail requesting an “emergency IEP meeting” because she felt
that WSEENNEN was not working forll. (Ex. /56, at p. B). Her e-mail did not state that the parents
would bring an attorney to the IEP meeting. (Td.).
JANUARY 2005 IEP

28.
On January 20, 2005, 388 parents and their attorney arrived for the IEP meeting. A call was placed to

inform Debbie Gay that legal counsel represented . (TR., Apr. 28, 2085 at pp. 186-192). While
waiting to hear from Ms. Gay, the meeting commenced. (TR., Apr. 28, 2005 at pp. 186-192). S
attorney discussed concerns with his current placement and indicated that professionals believed that Gl
needed residential placement. (TR, June 2, 2005 at pp. 8-9). The attorney also indicated that the parents
wanted to place him at Tgs School. (TR, June 2, 2005 at p. 38). There was no regular education
teacher present at the IEF meeting,. (fx. f-d43-44),

249
DCSD adjourned the TEP Team meeting hecause @l had an attorney at the meeting, but its attorney was
not present. The [EP team mecting was subject to being reconvened when DCSDYs attorney could attend.
(TR., Apr. 28 2005 at p. 192; TR, June 2, 2005 at p. 131; Fx. ~43), During the meeting, the IEP Team
neither recommended nor decided on a placement for B, and did oot reject any placement proposed by
¥R parents or his attorney.

30.
W parents and attorney chose not to reconvene another IEP Team meeting, Instead, on the day afier
the IEP meeting, S filed a due process request, asserting that his placement at EEIEUNNE: was not
appropriate, and that DCSD had failed to identify his disabilities. The parents requested placement at Wil
@R School for the rest of the semester for social skills traiming, afler which he would return to

DCSD.  (Jan. 21, 2005 Due Process Reguest, at p. 7). SBB due process request did not demand
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residential placement. Rather, it contemplated placement at ‘SEMSNNI School for the remainder of the
semester to allow [l to return to gifted classes at DOSD. (Jd.; See alve TR., Apr. 29, 2003, at p. 133).

THE COTTAGE SCHOOL

3L,
On or about February 12, 2005, il attomey gave notice to DCSD of the parents’ intent to remove @ll.
from DCSD, unilateraily place him at (RIS School, and seek reimbursement for the private
placement. (Ex. R-38, at p. A; TR, Sept. 20, 2005, at p. 133). WHB. bepan attending SN School
near the end of Febroary 2005. (TR, Sept. 19, 2005, at p. 132). As with e Academy, the
children at SEENESNEE School are also all “special needs children”. However, unlike Syl the
majority are not minority students. When BB began attending SEESNEESEE School, his attendance,
participation and performance were acceptable. (TR., June 2, 2005 at pp. 291-293; TR., Sept 19, 2005 at
pp. 132-138; Ex. 75- 5} However, his attendance and behavior quickly deteriorated. In April 2005, (5.
was suspended after grabbing the hand of a teacher who took his cell phone away. After this incident,
W refused to return to (SEENEENDs School. (TR., Sept. 19, 2005, at pp. 132-138). The total cost for
W 10 attend W School was $8,250. TR., August 30, 2005 at p.246; September 20, 2005 at p.
137). :

. 12

After attending SEREENNEES chool, 88’ condition was worse than it had been at ESRRNNENG and the
parents believed that he needed immediate residential placement. (Testimony of D.S. Testimony, June 2,
2005). The parents agreed to release 8° psychological records to DCSD. The parties held an IEP
meeting and agreed on a 90-day diagnostic placement for@® | at a place to be determined. Upon receipt
of information from 8.’ psychiatrist, the parties were able to agree upon and place§ll in a residential
facility for the above-referenced diagnostic placement. (Exs. R-63, 66, 67).

33,
During Fall 2004, .’ psychiatrist, Dr. AgumF informed 30" mother that @l was 2 danger o
himself or others. (TR., Sept 30, 2005, at p. 34-42). However, S8 mother did not report this
mtormation to DCSD because she believed that this was “too weighty a diagnosis.” (Testimony nf’:
TR., Sept. 30, 2005, at pp. 34-42). #E’ father also admits that, for two years, Dr. B8 had heen
indicating to the parents that §& needed residential placement. However, he did not share this
information with DCSD prior to placing §ElF at SR School, which is not a residential facility,
(TR., Sept. 200, 2005, at 40-42; TR., Aug. 30, 2005 at pp. 277-281).
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. 34,
8 was accepted into-JENSEEER School based on tepresentations made by the parents and the
psychological report provided by Dr. SEEENE (TR, Aug. 30, 2005 at pp. 285-287). The founder of
SR School, Dr. Digieso, did not speak to either §8." psychiatrist, Dr. or a representative of
DCSD, and did not attend an [EP meeting for 8 prior to accepiing him as a student. (TR, Aug. 30,
2005 at pp. 277-281, 288-294; TR, Sept. 19, 2005 at pp. 218-220). There is no evidence in the record
that the parents shared Dr. #ls concerns about Sl emotional condition with Dr. Digieso during the
admission process, including any concerns about his potential for violence. In faet, Dr. Digieso testified
that, had she been aware of Dr. s recommendation that#ll. was a danger o himself or others and
should be admitted to a residential treatment facility, she would not have accepted . at * NN
School. (TR., Sept. 19, 2005 ar 218-220). Dr. Digieso admits that ‘S School ultimately was an
unsuccessful placement for 8. since he attended for less than two months and received no academic
credit. (TR., Sept. 19. 2003, at pp. 136-138).
35.

Residential Placement is a very restrictive placement option. It is more restrictive than SRR,
The student is removed from his family and school environment. (TR, Apr. 28, 2003, at pp. 203-205).
Residential placement would not be appropriate simply becavse a child has :;&endance problems. (TR,
Apr. 29, 2005, at p, 87). Commen features of residential placements include: 1) locked portions of the
facility for students who are a danger o themselves or others; (2) restrictions on clothing, sometimes
including limitations on the use of shoestrings, belts, etc.; and (3) sparse living guarters, (TR., Apr. 29,
2005, at pp. §4-85). Residential facilities are not quiet and calm places. (/d. at 88). They typically
involve students who have aggressive outbursts, are in crisis and require substantial interventions such as
mechanical restraints. (fd).  Residential placement is only appropriate where a child is a danper to
himself or others, or where a child, even when stabilized, cannol function in the regolar environment,
{TR., June 2, 2003, at pp. 130 and 214),

. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1.
The pertinent laws and regulations governing this matter include the Individuvals with Disabilities
Hducation Act (IDEA or “the Act™), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 ef seq.; 34 CFR Part 300, the Georgia Board of
Education Rules 160-4-7, et seq. 20 U.S.C. § 1415 (b) and 34 CFR § 507 (b) directs that this hearing
must be conducted by the State Education Apency or the public agency directly responsible for the
education of the child, as determined under State statute, Siate regulation, or a written policy of the State

Education Agency.
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BURDEN OF PROOF
2

Petitioner bears the burden of proof on all issues in this hearing since he is challenging an IEP, or seeks to
change an existing agreed-upon placement. Schaffer v. West, No. 04-698, 546 US __ (November 14,
2003); Devine v. Indian River Sch. Bd., 249 F 3d 1289, 1291 (11" Cir. 2001) (citing Christopher M. v.
Corpus Christi Indep, Sch. Dist., 933 F.2d 1285, 1290 (3™ Cir. 1991)); see alvo Weast v. Schaffer, 377
F.3d 449, 456 (4" Cir. 2004) (Petitioners in [DEA case have burden of proof at administrative hearing),
cert. granted, 125 S.C.T. 1300 {2005), Georgia's Board of Education Rules governing the IDEA hearing
process are consistent with Devine. Here, it is undisputed thatJl parents apreed to the placement at
S 111.der the EP and amendments through which . was being served when they withdrew
him from DCSD and enrolled him ot (NS School.

Petitioner also bears the burden of proof regarding the appropriateness of private services for which he
now seeks reimbursement because his parents unilaterally elected to enroll him in a private program. 20
US.C. § 1412(2)(10)C); 34 CFR. § 300403(c), School Committee of the Town of Rurlington,
Massachusetts v. Depariment of Education of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, 471 U.8, 359, 105 8,
Ct. 1996 (1985); see also M. 5. v. Yonkers Board of Fduc., 231 F3d 96 (ZE Cir. 2000) (when seeking
reimbursement for private placement or services, the parent has the burden of proof). Moreover, Sl
parents are now seeking a 24-hour per day residential placement for Jl., even though they did not make
such a request in their due process complaint, Since $i’ parents are advocating a more restrictive
placement, Petitioner bears the burden of establishing that the more restrictive environment is
appropriate.” Ga. Bd. of Educ. Rule 160-4-7-,18(1)(g)8.

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS
3.
It is undisputed that the applicable statute of limitation in this action is two years as established in Mandy
5. v. Fulton County School District, 205 F. Supp. 2d 1358 (N.D. Ga. 2000), aff’d without opinion, 273
F.3d 1114 (11th Cir. 2001). Further, “IDEA claims accrue when the parents know or have reason to
know of the injury or event that is the basis for their claim, whether or not they know that the injury is
actionable.” Mandy S., 205 ¥, Supp. at 1365. Therefore, in this case, the only IEPs at issue are those
prepared on or after January 21, 2003, or two years before Petitioner filed the instant due process heating

recuest.
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RIPENESS
4.
Before addressing the substantive issues in this case, it must first be determined whether there is a dispute
that is ripe for determination. The Georgia Board of Bducation Rule 160-4-7-.18 provides that the
impartial due process hearing is designed to provide concerned parties with an avenue for resolving
differences in the event the mediation process fails to do so. An impartial due process hearing must be
provided when the parents or the local school system requests it with regard to the identification,
evaluation, placement or provision of a free appropriate public education (FAPE) to a student with a
disability. See, 34 CFR ﬂﬂﬁ..fﬂ?fa).

In this matter, the IEP team, including {§l8." mother, agreed upon his placement at SRS, The IEP
team did not refuse any proposed placement by the parents at the January 20, 2005 [EP meeting. Rather,
the meeting recessed for DCSD to have legal representation present at the meeting. However, before the
team could reconvene, Petitioner filed a due process request, seeking placement at GESSNSENEE School.
Petitioner then changed his due process request to include residential placement prior to the
commencement of this hearing. Under these facts, Petitioner has failed to establish evidence that DCSD
rejected any placement proposed by the parents. Since DCSD did not reject a!f'dcmand made by Petitioner
during the Janvary 20, 2005 IEP meeting or subsequently, the basic requirement for obtaining a due
process hearing to “resolve differences™ was not met by Petitioner. Georgia Board of Education Rule
160-4-7-.18.  For these rcasons, Petitioner’s due process request was premature when filed.
Motwithstanding this fact, however, the Tribunal will nevertheless address and dispose of Petitioner's

substantive claims as if they were properly presented.

WHETHER PLACEMENT AT EAGLE WOODS OFFERED K.
A FREE, APPROPRIATE EDUCATION

3
The first substantive issue to decide is whether the 2004/05 IEP that placed Sl at S, o (forcd
BB . free, appropriate public education (FAPE) in the least restrictive environment (LEE). At the time
that §® filed for a due process hearing, and when he was unilaterally placed at GEEESSES School, the
existing placement under IDEA was the ‘i I's ycho-Educational Center. Therefore, the issue of
whether DCSD was providing a program reasonably calculated to provide il with FAPE relates to his

WNovember 22, 2004 placement at (IR and the approximately six (6) days that he actually
attended .
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.
In order to determine whether special education and related services are “appropriate,” the United States
Supreme Court has established a two-prong test. First, the court must inquire whether the School District
has complicd with the procedures set forth in the Act. Second, the courl must inquire whether the IEP is
“reasonably caleulated to enable the child to receive educational benefits.” Board of Education of Henrik
Hudson School District v. Rowley, 458 U.8. 176, 206-207 (1982). If these requirements are met, the
School District has provided an appropriate education under IDEA |

,

WHETHER THE SCHOOL DISTRICT COMPLIED WITH
FROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS OF IDEA

7.
The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has rejected the proposition that any and all
procedural errors, no matter how minor or inconsequential, under IDEA and its supparting regulations are
per se violations of the Act. Procedural defects are only actionable if the defect is found to have deprived
the student of FAPE. Weiss v. School Bd. of Hillsborough County, 141 F.3d 990, 994 (11th Cir. 1998).
In evaluating whether a procedural defect has deprived a student of FAPE, tkh:: Court must consider the
impact of the procedural defect, not merely the defect per se, and the procedural violations must cause
actual educational harm. Scheol Bd. of Collier County v. K.C., 285 F.3d 977, 982 (11th Cir. 2002)
(concluding that even a “procedurally flawed” IEP does not autornatically entitle a party to relief unless it
also failed to provide the student with any “cducational benefit”); Weiss v. School Bd. of Hillshorough
County, 141 F.3d 990, 996 (11th Cir. 1998) (concluding that, in order to prove that the student was denied
FAPE, the family “must show harm as a result of the alleged procedural violations™); and Doe v. Alabama
Dep't of fiduc., 915 F.2d 651, 662 (11th Cir. 1990) (concluding that the procedural deficiencies in the
case had no impact on the full and effective participation in the IEP process because the purpose of the
procedural requirement was “fully realized” and there was no violation that warranted relief).
8.

In this matter, Jl allcges several procedural errors. Specifically, @ alleges that a general education
teacher was not present at the “emergency™ IEP meeting, held on January 20, 2005, or at the previous JEP
meetings held in March 2003, April 2004, and November 2004. 34 C.ER. § 300.344 provides that an
IEP team is to include “at least one regular [general] education teacher of the child (if the child is, or may
be, participating in the regular education environment) . . . .* 34 CFR § 300344 (a)(2). ‘When the IEP
meetings were held in March 2003, April 2004, November 2004, and January 20035, a peneral cducation
teacher was not present at the TEP meetings, which is a deviation from the procedural requirements of the

IDEA. However, Petitioner has failed to present any evidence to establish harm to - as a result of
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DCSIY's failure to have a regular education teacher present at the IEP meetings. The parents fully
participated in the IEP process, and there is no evidence that the impact of the failure to have a regular
teacher present at the IEP meetings failed to provide 8. with any “educational benefit” under IDEA.
Moreaver, since the Act contemplates the party’s inviting “other individuals who have knowledge or
special expertise regarding the child, including related services personnel as appropriate,” the parents
could have invited any of @B.” regular education teachers that they felt were necessary to the meeting, or
requested that the meeting be adjourned so that a regular education teacher could be added to the team.
(34 CFR § 300344 (a)(6). Accordigly, even assuming, that the lack of a regular education teacher at the
IEP meetinps were procedural violations of the IDEA, Petitioner has failed o establish a violation of
FAPLE.

9.
During the hearing, but not in his due process hearing complaint, Petitioner atleged that the Behavior
Intervention Plan (BIP) for . was insufficient and inappropriate because it did not contain a writien
Functional Behavioral Assessment (FBA) for @8 However, there is no evidence that the DCSD failed to
complete or implement a BIP, or that it failed to complete an FBA, or analysis of the functions of Jil."
behaviors. In fact, the BIP form specifically notes the functions of those addressed behaviors. .
argues that the FBA should have been in weiting. However, therc is no mquil}::m::nl. that the FBA be in
writing. See 34 § 300,520 (h}{l}. (“conducting a functional behavioral assessment” and “implementing a
behavioral intervention plan™); 34 § 300.520 (b}2) (“completing the assessments required by the
behavioral intervention plan™). Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to establish that DCSD violated IDEA
by not generating a separate writing entitled “Functional Behavioral Assessment™.

140,
During the hearing, but not in the due process hearing complaint, Petitioner also alleged that DCSD’s
alleged reporting of the bus incident to the police for destruction of property “criminalized” his disability
and his behavior. (TR., Apr. 30, 2005, at p. 88-90, 97).  However, 20 U.S.C. § 1415 (k)(9) and 34 CFR
§ 300.529 provide that “nothing in this part prohibits an apency from reporting a crime committed by a
child with a disability to approprate authorities or to prevent State law enforcement and judicial
authorities from exercising their responsibilities with regard to the application of Federal and State law to
crimes committed by a child with a disability.” Therefore, based on the undisputed facts that B, at the
very least, destroyed public school property on November 3, 2004, the IDEA explicitly allowed the
School District, or the police, to report#§ill. or charge him with a crime.

Pape 16 of 21 Volume  Page




11.
During the hearings, but not in the due process hearing request, Petitioner alleged several procedural- type
errors (and some mixed procedural/substantive errors) that are not properly before this Tribunal. First,
Petitioner alleges that he requested educational recerds from DCSD that would have dated from his entry
into the School District (approximately 1996) through the present. Petitioner contends that, because he
did not receive all of the requested documents from these years, DCSD must have destroyed records
without notifying him in violation of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, 20 U.S.C,
§1232g, 34 C.F.R. § 99.22 (discussed, in relevant part, in IDEA at 20 U.S.C. §§ 1412 (a)(8), 1417 (¢} and
its supporting regulations at 34 CFR. §§ 300,568, 300.570, 300.573). However, IDEA’s suppaorting
regulation 34 C.E.R. § 300,570, “Hearing procedures” regarding FERPA complaints, provides that, “A
hearing held under [34 C.F.R. §] 300.568 must be conducted according to the procedures under 34 C.F.R.
[§199.22. (Authority: 20 U.S.C. 1412(a){8), 1417(c).” Therefore, charged with deciding issues relating
to “the identification, evaluation or educational placement of a child with a disability, or the provision of
FAPE to the child” (34 CF.R. § 300.507), this Tribunal has neither explicit nor implicit jurisdiction to
decide the issue of document provision or destruction pursuant to FERPA,
12,

During the hearings, but not in the due process hearing request, Pctih oner alleged that DCSD
inconsistently reported his truancy pursuant to Georgia law during the 2003-2004 school year and the
beginning of the 2004 school year, while reporting it in January 2005. As stated above, under IDEA, this
Tribunal is charged with deciding issues relating to “the identification, evaluation or educational
placement of a child with a disability, or the provision of FAPE to the child” 34 CE.R § 300.507.

Therefore, the compulsory attendance issue is not governed by the IDEA or its accompanying regulations.

For all of the foregoing reasons, the School District has (1) complied with the procedural requirements of
the IDEA in accordance with the first part of the Rowley test. 458 U S. 176 (1982); and (2) no procedural
violations alleged by K 8. denied him FAPE.

WHETHER THE [EPs WERE REASONABLY CALCULATED
TO ENABLE K.S. TO RECEIVE EDUCATIONAL BENEFITS

13,
The second part of the Rowley analysis requires the court to determine whether the School District
provided “ with an IEP “reasonably calculated to enable him to receive educational benefits™ in the
least restrictive cnvironment. School districts are not required to “maximize” a disabled child’s

educational potential. Rowley, 458 U.S. at 206-207. Children must, however, be provided with a “basic
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floor of opportunity,” Drew P. v. Clarke Cotnty Sch. Dist., 877 F.2d 927 (11th Cir. 1989), and Todd L.
v. Amdrews, 933 F.2d 1576 (11th Cir. 1991). While a trifle might not represent ‘adequate’ benefits,
maximum improvement is never required. Adequacy must be determined on a case by case basis in light
of the child’s individual needs.” See, e.g., Doe v. State Department of Education, 315 F.2d at 665.

14,
An IEP is a snapshot, not a retrospective. In striving for “appropriateness™ an [EP must take into account
what was, and was not, objectively reasonable when the snapshot was taken, or at the time that the IEP
was promulgated " Frank S v Sehool Comm. of the Dennis-Yarmouth Reg'l Sch. Dist, 26 F.5upp.2d
219, 226 n. 15 (quoting Roland M. v. Concord Sch. Comm., 910 F.2d 983, 992 (1st Cir. 1990); Mandy 5. w.
Fulton County School Distriet, 205 F, Supp. 2d 1358, 1367 (N.D. Ga. 2000}, aff'd 273 F.3d 1114 (11th
Cir. 2001).

15,
Academic propress, even when a student’s 1EP primarily addresses behavioral difficulties, is strong
evidence that the IEP is appropriate and that the school district has provided the student FAPE in
accordance with IDEA. See, e.g., Kings Local Sch. Diszt. v. Zelazny, 325 F.3d 724 (6th Cir. 2003}, Hall v.
Shawnee Mission Sch. Dist, 856 F. Supp.1521 (D.C.Kan, 1994); see alse Doe v. Alabama Siate Dept. of
Helue., 915 F.2d 651, 666 (1990) (where the student received passing grades in subject matier areas, the
IEP afforded substantial educational benefits).

16.
In this matter, the 2004/05 IEP, as amended on November 22, 2004 to change placement to [,
was reasonably calculated to provide adequate educational benefits to Petitioner. The IEP team convened
within three weeks of ..’ bus incident. His parents were present and were available to give relevant
medical and psychiatric or psychological information. 388 formerly had been placed in a less restrictive
environment, inchuding placement in gifted and advanced classes and transportation on the “magnet” bus
for the DCSD's gifted and talented students (where the bus incident took place). S was passing his
classes despite his emotional problems. However, by November 22, 2004, Petitioner required a structured
environment that would enable him to concentrate on building his social skills and changing his behaviors
before he could re-enter the regular education environment.

17.
In addition, 48" mother actively participated at the IEP meeting and reported to the 1EP team that JElE
was emotionally fragile and had suicidal ideations. Based on this information, the IEP team reasonably
coneluded that @l needed to be in an environment where he could develop social skills and individual
responsibility in o setting with highly trained staff, as well as licensed clinical psychologists who, along

with providing him services, had the authority to have him admitted to a psychiatric hospital if it was
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medically necessary. It is also important to note that 888 only attended SRR [or spproximately
six (6) partial days. This short period of time deprived DCSD of an opportunity to conduct a case study
evaluation to determine whether the placement at R a5 less appropriate than the [EP team
concluded it to be on November 22, 2004, when the parents agreed to it. See, Patricia P. v. Board of
Educ. of Oak Park and River Forest High Sch. Dist., 203 F.3d 462 (7" Cir. 2000); and Schoenfeld v.
Parkway Sch. Dist,, 138 F.3d 379 (8" Cir. 1998). Since Sl attended so fow days at NS and
the 1EP provided FAPE as written, SISl was an appropriate placement reasonably caleulated to
confer educational benefits to! based on all the information that the IEP team had before them at that
Lime, .
LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT
18,

The “least restrictive environment™ {LRE) requires that the student be educated with his non-disabled
peers to the maximum extent appropriate. Georgia Board of Education Rule 160-4-7-.01(i) defines “least
restrictive environment™ as the setting when “students with disabilities . . , are educated, to the maximum
extent appropriate, with students who are not disabled, and that special classes, special schooling or other
removal of students with disabilities from the regular education environment oceurs only if the nature and
severity of the disability are such that education in the regular classes with lh:.;, use of supplementary aids
and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily,” i, citing 34 C.FR. § 31]0.55[][]::}[1}-{2); see also Georgia
Bd. of Educ. Rule 160-4-7-.08 (1){z). In this matter, the 2004/)5 IEP, as amended on November 22,
2004, with the approval of his parents and other IEP team members, provided a placement for SEEE at

R SRS Ccnter in the least restrictive environment appropriate for Petitioner at

that time.
19,

Prior to placement at (RIS, Pctitioner was served through a continuum of placement options (34
C.ER. § 300.551; Ga. Bd. of Bduc. Rule 160-4-7-08 (2)(2)(i)), based on his individual needs that were
appropriate at the time of the IEPs’ development (see Letter to Aronymous, 24 IDELR 962, 24 LRP 3819
(Apr. 25, 1996). The 1EPs were altered when the IEP teams determined that S8 needs demanded
changes in placement in accordance with 34 C.F.R. § 300.343(¢c) and Ga. Bd. of Educ. Rule 160-4-7-
09(6)()(%). WM placements prior to [N included full service in repular classes with a range
of supplemental aids and services (Tucker High School, 2003 — March 16, 2004) and part-time service in
regular classes with a range of supplemental aids and services (Chamblee Outpost program, March 16,
2004 — November 3, 2004). However, by November 22, 2004, the nature and severity of il disability
was such that education in regular classes with the use of supplementary aids and services could not be

achieved satisfactorily.
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20.
At the November 22, 2004 [EP meeting, the IEP team properly considered Jll’ academic, social,
language, behavior during the “bus incident” of November 3, 2004, subsequent psychiatric
hospitalization, and its impact on the abilities of WMl and other students in his classroom to receive
cducational benefit. See Ga. Bd. of Educ. Rule 160-4-7- 08 (1}(a)(1){(v); and Ga. Bd. of Educ. Rule 160-
4-7-.08 (1)a)(1)}(iv). Based on this information, SR Psvcho-educational Center was the feast
restrictive environment appropriate for 388 at the time of the November 22, 2004 TEP meeting.

'
REIMBURSEMENT FOR PRIVATE PLACEMENT

21.
If the parents a student with a disability, who previously received special education and related services in
a LSS/SOP, enroll the student in a private school without the consent of or referral by the LSS/SOP, a
court or administrative law judge (ALI) may require the LS3/SOP to reimburse the parent(s)/ guardian(s)/
surrogate(s) for the cost of the enrollment if the court or ALJ determines that: (i) the LSS/SOP had not
made a FAPE available to the student in a timely manner prior to that enrollment, and (i)} the private
placement is appropriate. Georgia Bd. of Edue. Rule 160-4-7-.15 (2)(a). In this matter, Sl parents
seek reimbursement for the money spent on his attendance at'd School after unilaterally
withdrawing him from EJSERE. However, in order to he reimbursed for SM8° unilateral private
placement, the parents must prove both that DCSD did not offer Jlll with FAPE and that the parent’s
proposed placement was appropriate.  Burlingion School Committee v. Department of Edwcarion, 471
17.5. 359, 105 8. Ct. 1996 (1985); See also, 34 C.F.R. 300.403(c).

22.
Because it has already been concluded that DCSD did, in fact, offer FAPE to 3HR it is unnecessary to
reach the issue of reimbursement or compensalory services. However, Burlington, as codified by IDEA
and its supporting regulations, places the obligation on parents to demonstrate that the unilateral removal
of the child from school, and placement of him at home or in any other setting, was appropriate. Only if
they succeed in proving that the services they chose provided an “appropriate” cducalion in the least
restriclive environment are they entitled to reimbursement for expenses incurred. In addition, private
placement reimbursement may be denied if the parents have acted unreagonably. Georgia Bd. of Edue.
Rule 160-4-7-.15 (4); 34 CFR 300.403(d)(3). In this case, it is undisputed that the parents did not share
with DCSD, oS RS chool, the opinion of Dr. @ that S was a danger to himself or others. In
fact, Dr. Digieso testificd that, had she known of Dr. W's opinion, SR School would not have
accepted HIE-Morcover, JlF grabbing of a teacher at S S chool during a dispute over his cell

phone demonstrates that this was not the appropriate placement for him. Finally, the fact that Bl spent
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less than two months attending SR Schoo! before refusing to refurn, received no academic credit
for his time there, and Dr. SRR’ s testimony that JJlE needs to be placed in a 24 hour a day facility
to learn limits, demonstrate that R School was not an appropriate placement for A5l

Therefore, the parents are not entitled to reimbursement,

IV. DECISTON

Based upon the foregoing, it is concluded thatll. received a free, appropriate public education from the
Dekalb County School District during the relevant period. Accordingly, any relief or remedy sought by
Petitioner is unwarranted and HEREBY DENIED.

SO ORDERED, this 22™ day of November, 2003.

CAROL WALKE R-R[]S:H'JLL
Administrative Law Judge
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